FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 NOV 26 PM 1: 20 STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 46824-7

BY

DEPUTY

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

In re the Marriage of

MICHAEL ST. GEORGE BENT,

Appellant,

v.

LASHANDRE NICHELE BENT,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael S. Bent Appellant, pro se

16506 SE 29th St Apmt K91 Vancouver, WA 98683 Tel: 360.907.1860 Email: msgbent@gmail.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS ii - iv
TABLE OF AUTHORITIESv - x
A. 1. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR1
2. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR1
B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT8
1. Limits on presumed constitutionality8
2. Holistic perspective of Parental Rights8
3. Parens patriae obligations and fitness finding9
4. Contemporary constitutional concept of marriage9
5. Discriminatory clause in Relocation Act9
6. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims9
D. ARGUMENT9
1. PRESUMPTION OF CONSTITUTIONALITY IS INAPPROPRIATE WHEN CIVIL LIBERTIES ARE IMPLICATED. 9
(a) Constitutional Errors Raised Pro Se on Appeal9
(b) Presumed Constitutionality Inappropriate for Civil Statutes 10
2. BOTH BENT PARENTS POSSESSED PERSONAL AND INDIVIDUAL PARENTAL RIGHTS AND THE RIGHTS OF EACH MUST BE EQUALLY PROTECTED
(a) The Constitution Governs County Orders in Dissolution 14

(b)	Holistic Perspective of Parental Rights and Rights Implicated
(c)	Equal Protection Violation of Right to Parent-Child Association
(d)	Equal Protection Exemption: Compelling State Interest 21
(e)	Equal Protection of Dissimilar Situated Parents25
(f)	County Orders Violated Right to Parent-Child Association
3.	PARENS PATRIAE DUTY OBLIGATED THE COUNTY TO ASSURE THE BENT CHILDREN WERE ENTRUSTED TO FIT PARENT(S)
(a)	Parental Fitness: Financial Independence
(b)	Parental Fitness: Duty to Children
(c)	Parental Fitness: Equal Protection and Ms Bent Evaluation
4.	THE BENT SPOUSES' INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS WERE UNAFFECTED BY MARRIAGE AND EACH WAS EQUALLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THEMSELVES AND THEIR CHILDREN
(a)	Contemporary Marriage: a Bilateral Loyalty32
(b)	Due Process Violation of Right to Parental Autonomy35
(c)	Due Process Violation of Right to Personal Autonomy and Personal Property
(d)	Contemporary Dissolution: Argument for Transformation
(e)	County Orders Violated Right to Personal Liberty44

	5.	GRANTING MS BENT PRIVILEGES OF RELOCATION ACT REQUIRED STRICT SCRUTINY44
	(a)	Relocation Act Created Invidious Classification
	(b)	Relocation Approval Fails Strict Scrutiny46
·	6.	CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS WERE AUTHORIZED BY COUNTY POLICY MAKER(S) UNDER THE COLOR OF LAW EXPOSING THE COUNTY TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 CLAIMS
E.	CONC	LUSION & RELIEF SOUGHT49
F.	[Do	NDIX RE SANDERS, Mich: Supreme Court (2014) ocket No. 146680. Decided: June 2, 2014] cluded per Rules Of General Application: GR 14.1.)A-01

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

American. Legion Post No. 149 v. Wash. State Dept. of Health, 164 Wn.2d 570, 192 P.3d 306 (2008)
Andersen v. King County, 158 Wn.2d 1, 138 P.3d 963 (2006)
Barefield v. Barefield, 69 Wn.2d 158, 417 P.2d 608, (1966)29
deElche v. Jacobsen, 95 Wn.2d 237, 622 P.2d 835 (1980)
Freehe v Freehe, 81 Wn.2d 183, 500 P.2d 771 (1972)
Fusato v. Washington Interscholastic Activities Ass'n, 93 Wash.App. 762, 970 P.2d 774 (1999)
Hansen v. Hansen, 43 Wn.2d 520, 262 P.2d 184 (1953)
In re Adoption of Lybbert, 75 Wn.2d 671, 453 P.2d 650 (1969)
In re Custody of BMH, 179 Wash.2d 224, 315 P.3d 470, 478-79 (2013)27
In re Custody of Smith, 137 Wn.2d 1, 969 P.2d 21 (1998)
In re Dependency of Schermer, 161 Wn.2d 927, 169 P.3d 452 (2007)
In re Luscier, 84 Wn.2d 135, 524 P.2d 906 (1974)38

In re Marriage of Burrill, 113 Wn. App. 863, 56 P.3d 993 (2002)28
In re Marriage of Hadeen, 27 Wn. App. 566, 619 P.2d 374 (1980)16
In re Marriage of King, 162 Wash.2d 378, 174 P.3d 659 (2007)
In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)
In re Marriage of Pape, 139 Wash.2d 694, 989 P.2d 1120 (1999)
In re Marriage of Valente, 179 Wn. App. 817, 320 P.3d 115 (2014)24, 39
In re Parentage of L.B., 155 Wash.2d 679, 122 P.3d 161 (2005)
In re Welfare of Key, 119 Wn.2d 600, 836 P.2d 200 (1992)
In re Welfare of Sumey, 94 Wn.2d 757, 621 P.2d 108 (1980)
Island County v. State, 135 Wash.2d 141, 955 P.2d 377 (1998)
Lutheran Day Care v. Snohomish County, 119 Wash.2d 91, 829 P.2d 746 (1992)
Munoz v. Munoz, 79 Wn.2d 810, 489 P.2d 1133 (1971)
Seattle School Dist. v. State, 90 Wash.2d 476, 585 P.2d 71 (1978)
Smith v. Smith, 13 Wn. App. 381, 534 P.2d 1033 (1975)

State ex rel. Holcomb v. Armstrong, 39 Wn. (2d) 860, 239 P. (2d) 545 (1952)
State v. Bowen, 80 Wn.2d 808, 498 P.2d 877 (1972)23
State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)
State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 26 P.3d 890 (2001)
State v. Wood, 89 Wn.2d 97, 569 P.2d 1148 (1977)23, 38
Tilton v. Cowles Publishing Co., 76 Wash.2d 707, 459 P.2d 8 (1969)
FEDERAL CASES
Boyd v. U Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746 (1886)
<u>Caban v. Mohammed</u> , 441 U.S. 380, 60 L.Ed.2d 297, 99 S.Ct. 1760 (1979)
<u>City of Cleburne, Texas v. Cleburne Living Ctr.</u> , 473 U.S. 432, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985)
<u>Conley v. Gibson,</u> 355 U.S. 41, 2 L.Ed.2d 80, 78 S.Ct. 99 (1957)
Croft v. Westmoreland County Children & Youth Servs., 103 F.3d 1123 (3d Cir. 1997)
<u>Duchesne v. Sugarman,</u> 566 F.2d 817 (2d Cir. 1977)

<u>Hansen v. May,</u> 502 F.2d 728 (9th Cir. 1974)
Leatherman v. Tarrant County Narcotics Intelligence and Coordination Unit,
507 U.S. 163, 113 S.Ct. 1160, 122 L.Ed.2d 517 (1993)
<u>Lehr v. Robertson,</u> 463 U.S. 248, 77 L.Ed.2d 614, 103 S.Ct. 2985 (1983)
<u>Lynch v. Household Finance Corp.</u> , 405 U.S. 538, 92 S.Ct. 1113, 31 L.Ed.2d 424 (1972)
<u>Mass. Bd. of Retirement v. Murgia,</u> 427 U.S. 307 (1976)
McCullen v. Coakley, 573 U. S, 134 S.Ct. 2518 (2014)
Moore v. East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 52 L.Ed.2d 531, 97 S.Ct. 1932 (1977)
Parham v. Hughes, 441 U.S. 347, 99 S.Ct. 1742, 60 L.Ed.2d 269 (1979)
Planned Parenthood of Southeastern Pennsylvania v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833, 112 S.Ct. 2791, 120 L.Ed.2d 674 (1992)
<u>Prince v. Massachusetts,</u> 321 U.S. 158, 64 S.Ct. 438, 88 L.Ed. 645 (1944)
Regents of the University of California v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265, 98 S.Ct. 2733, 57 L.Ed.2d 750 (1978) 31, 37, 41
Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 113 S.Ct. 1439, 123 L.Ed.2d 1 (1993)
Roberts v. United States Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609, 104 S.Ct. 3244, 82 L.Ed.2d 462 (1984)

Santosky V. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1982) 23, 31, 46
<u>Shelley v. Kraemer,</u> 334 U.S. 1, 68 S.Ct. 836, 92 L.Ed. 1161 (1948)
<u>Trammel v. United States,</u> 445 U.S. 40, 63 L.Ed.2d 186, 100 S.Ct. 906 (1980)
<u>Trimble v. Gordon,</u> 430 U.S. 762, 97 S.Ct. 1459, 52 L.Ed.2d 31 (1977)
<u>United States v. Windsor,</u> U.S, 133 S.Ct. 2675 (2013)
Weller v. Dep't of Social Servs. for Baltimore, 901 F.2d 387 (4th Cir.1990)22, 24
West Va. State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette, 319 U.S. 624, 638, 87 L.Ed. 1628, 63 S.Ct. 1178, 147 A.L.R 674
(1943)
118 U.S. 356, 6 S. Ct. 1064, 30 L. Ed. 220 (1886)
Zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374, 98 S.Ct. 673, 54 L.Ed.2d 618 (1978)33, 34, 43
STATE CASES
In Re Sanders, Mich: Supreme Court Docket No. 146680 (2014)
STATUTES AND CONSTITUTION PROVISIONS
RCW 13.34.020

RCW 26.09.00214
RCW 26.09.003
RCW 26.09.18730
RCW 26.09.520
RCW 26.19.071
Wash. Const. Art. IV - The Judiciary: § 28 Oath of Judges
42 U.S.C. § 1983
RULE AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
A Judge's Guide: Making Child-Centered Decisions in Custody Cases © 2008 American Bar Association. ISBN 1-60442-148-7 Second Edition
Child Support Performance and Incentive Act of 1998 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services H.R.3130
RAP 2.5(a)(3)
GP 14.1 Citation to Unpublished Oninions

A.1. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. The Court erred in failing to adequately protect Mr Bent's right to parent-child association and parental autonomy.
- 2. The Court erred in overlooking reliable concerns of Ms Bent's fitness as required to protect the Bent children's interests.
- **3.** The Court erred in undermining the bilateral parenting evaluation through unequal treatment of the Bent parents.
- 4. The Court erred in failing to hold both Bent parents accountable for financial support of their children per state policy.
- 5. The Court erred in failing to protect Mr Bent's right to personal autonomy and his individual property rights.
- **6.** The Court erred in denying Mr Bent the option to provide for his children as appropriate being the most financially burdened.
- 7. The Court erred in declaring Ms Bent a primary parent for the relocation assessment without appropriate due diligence.
- **8.** The Court erred in subordinating Mr Bent's right to parent-child association in the relocation assessment.

A.2. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Does presumption of constitutionality apply to County orders implicating civil liberties? (Pertains to Errors 1 through 8.)

- 2. Did the County's violation of Mr Bent's and his children's right to equal protection of their interests through dissolution undermine the Parenting Plan validity? (Pertains to Errors 1 through 8.)
- 3. Did the County fail its parens patriae duty to assure the Bent children were entrusted to fit parent(s) who could meet basic, essential parental obligations? (Pertains to Errors 2 through 4.)
- **4.** Did the County's violation of Mr Bent's right to personal liberty render the asset division and support provisions of the divorce decree constitutionally void? (Pertains to Errors 4 through 6.)
- 5. Did the lack of strict scrutiny rigor in the relocation assessment render the relocation approval and associated Parenting Plan constitutionally void? (Pertains to Errors 7 and 8.)
- 6. Does Mr Bent have a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983? (Pertains to Errors 1 through 8.)

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms Bent's attorney submitted the petition for dissolution on 6/10/13 permitting the issuance of an Ex Parte Temporary Restraint Order (TRO) primarily to restrain Mr Bent from returning to the family home, contacting their two children and encroaching on Ms Bent. The judicial officer did not need to validate Ms Bent's claims nor assess veracity. The

TRO was issued solely pursuant to broad statutory authority. CP 12.

The TRO was presented to Mr Bent in view of his children immediately following an awards ceremony for their second child. RP 343. Mr Bent was not permitted to retrieve his critical items from the family home (clothing, medication, etc). Mr Bent had been the sole working parent through their children's lives but sought egalitarian living. RP 424. Ms Bent attempted several self-employment alternatives (like Hannah Walters Group RP 375) before completing a Marketing MBA intending to secure employment but, for 6 years preceding this action, had purportedly been job hunting, submitting "countless" resumes without success. RP 376-377. Mr Bent was ordered to provide approximately 65% of his income to Ms Bent retroactive to date of separation. Ms Bent was not ordered to, nor did she secure a job and, though capable, is dependent on Mr Bent. CP 117 ¶ 2.12 & RP 436. During Oral Orders, Ms Bent was imputed at half her statutory wage (\$70k annually per RCW 26.19.071). THE COURT: "so I think I will impute to you at a conservative \$35,000 at this point". RP 673 & RP 743. In contrast, Mr Bent was imputed at full wage though he requested flexibility to enable a life-style change. RP 433.

In petitioning for dissolution Ms Bent claimed Mr Bent was violent and mentally unstable – declaring he was a danger to her, their children and the US Government. CP 11 ¶ 2.2. As evidence for her emergency Ex

Parte petition, she provided photographs of miscellaneous items found six months prior. RP 331. The County ordered his evaluation, and seeking to conclusively convince the County, he arranged for a full psychological evaluation inclusive of Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) completed by Dr Dudley, a forensic psychologist. CP 24 ¶ 3.2.5. Dr Dudley reported Mr Bent as a low risk of violence and confirmed Mr Bent shared a loving relationship with both children who wanted more time with their father. CP 25C page 18 & RP 35. Although his report debased Ms Bent's claims, the County disregarded Mr Bent's assertion of her undiagnosed psychosis and his plea for her evaluated. CP 17 & CP 42.

Ms Bent relentlessly pled to avoid evaluation though her melodramatic accusations and concerns were invalidated by a reaffirmed evaluation of Mr Bent. CP 40 & CP 43. The County continued the restrictions established by the TRO (though allowing for gradual increase in time with children), and eventually agreed to a bilateral parenting evaluation but explicitly instructed that "no psychological evaluation" of Ms Bent was permitted. CP 48 ¶ 3.2. However, days before releasing his eight month study, the appointed psychologist, Dr Poppleton administered a MMPI assessment of Ms Bent revealing multiple very high elevated scales. Ex 2 page 22. This may indicate psychiatric issues but, per Dr Poppleton, "raw-data hypotheses ... would need some degree of

corroboration". He added "her profile was blown up across various scales, where father's was not." RP 113. He acknowledged failing to review his findings with Ms Bent's counsellor as a "particular weakness of [his] evaluation." RP 156. Actually there were no collateral interviews to validate Ms Bent self-assessment which became relevant after her MMPI revealed she "present herself in an overly favorable light." Ex 2 page 21.

Yet, given these caveats, in reference to Ms Bent's alarming MMPI profile, he assured the Court, "At the end of the day, all that was considered" in his recommendation taking a "fairly liberal" approach favoring Ms Bent. RP 115. The report was released a week before Trial.

Mr Bent lacked time to secure a second expert opinion but more importantly, the Trial Court refused to upset the pre-Trial Court's no-evaluation ruling and simply declared Ms Bent as "primary parent". CP 116 ¶ 2.1. However, the pre-Trial Court had never met with the couple and relied on opinion of Ms Bent's attorney. Mr Bent remains concerned for their children in her care without the moderation provided by him preseparation and now by a temporary roommate. RP 88, 126 & 350. In revealing testimony Ms Bent admitted she was troubled even by non-threatening, albeit candid, adult email from Mr Bent such as:

"Please be more timely with updates and make updates at consistent time every other day. Erratic shifts from 8 a.m. one day then 11:59 p.m. another is indicative of instability and leaves me

wondering about the environment you are creating for the kids."

RP 228. Seemingly because such over-the-edge embellishments are often used to bias the divorce process, Dr Poppleton erroneously discounted the significance of what otherwise may be evidence of psychosis. Among other observations he testified:

"Well, mom has some borderline behavior in her home, which is consistent with some of the other reports that I have. It's not what we would consider in a clinical range, but it's pushing it is where that's at." RP 120.

"I brought up [to Dr Dudley] the [Ms Bent's] allegations, which he was fully aware of, and the conversation was is that, you know, kind of a shaking of the head through the phone." RP 141.

However, Ms Bent obviously believes her allegations; they were not contrived to convince – they were artifacts that should alert the need for treatment. RP 340 & RP 372. Though her revealing MMPI corroborated Mr Bent's initial claim, the County approved her cross-country relocation to Florida without additional evaluation. RP 113 & CP 17.

During the separation period Ms Bent made multiple complaints about Mr Bent's open emails, sundry text messages and a book about cartoon weapons. CP 153. Both schools had the TRO notice and per policy advised Ms Bent, exacerbating her hysteria, when Mr Bent returned the weapons book. He was chastised for his child's purchase of the kid's book and for asking if his children's phones were confiscated. RP 222.

Though not dangerous, they caused Ms Bent anxiety and she submitted each as evidence. Dr Poppleton said "I don't know if this would have, frankly, reached the level of much concern" for average families. RP 40.

At Trial, all claims used by Ms Bent to secure the 15 month TRO were rejected. The Court opined "I didn't find the testimony of the [ten] photos with the mercury and the BB gun and the engineering notes from MythBusters, I didn't find any of that to be to the point where I would have 191 restrictions." RP 749. Effectually recognizing Ms Bent, not Mr Bent, as the true antagonist, possibly encouraged by her roommate, a conning convicted felon who befriended both Bent parents. RP 351.

Asset allocation favored Ms Bent though she contributed negligibly to the family assets secured through Mr Bent's labor. RP 713 & 740. Acknowledged "separate" property of Mr Bent's Traditional IRA and property earned exclusively by him were treated as "community". CP 117 2.21. Minimal consideration was given to investment in Ms Bent MBA. CP 740. She acknowledged receiving much during the marriage including over \$38,577 squandered during 2012-2013, costly plastic (cosmetic) surgery and numerous vacations. RP 714, 255, & 257. She saved little of what Mr Bent provided her. Ex 44 & RP 715.

The Parenting Plan is heavily influenced by the approved cross-country relocation. CP 119 § III. It affords Mr Bent liberal time with his

children but compromises Mr Bent's fundamental interest in day-to-day association. RP 481. His time is burdened by long cross-country trips and limits his participation in their daily lives. This is especially concerning given Ms Bent relentless effort to control phone contact with children. CP 119 § VI & RP 731. Mr Bent holds joint decision authority. CP 119 § IV.

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr Bent first questions the policy of "presumed constitutionality" when applied to civil statutes and shows the policy fails substantive due process in such situations. On behalf the People of Washington, he encourages the Court to take a bolder stance to protect the Peoples' liberty interests from majoritarian threats and requests the Court's clarification of the policy's application to civil statutes.
- 2. Mr Bent introduces a more holistic perspective of "Parental Rights", one which incorporates the narrow legal viewpoint and parents' pragmatic perspective. Distinguishing rights truly implicated reveals equal protection hurdles that were violated through the Bent dissolution with sufficient prejudice to undermine the Bent Parenting Plan. This prejudice is common and the Bent case might not appear unique. The measure however, is against the Constitution and considering a constitutionally valid dissolution reveals the manifest violations.

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