No. 46824-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

In re the Marriage Of:

Michael St. George Bent,

Appellant,

۷.

LaShandre Nichele Bent,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

A. The trial court acted well within its broad discretion in granting LaShandre's relocation.

This Court "defers to the trial court's ultimate relocation ruling unless it is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons under the abuse of discretion standard." *In re Marriage of Fahey*, 164 Wn. App. 42, 56, 262 P.3d 128 (2011), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1019 (2012). This Court will uphold findings that are supported by substantial evidence – evidence sufficient to convince a fair-minded, reasonable person of the truth of the declared premise. *Fahey*, 164 Wn. App. at 55. Within these confines, a trial court has discretion to grant or deny a relocation after considering the 11 factors in RCW 26.09.520, "and the interests of the children and their parents." 164 Wn. App. at 56.

In a relocation proceeding, the trial court must conduct a factfinding hearing, at which the relocating parent is entitled by statute to a rebuttable presumption that the relocation will be allowed. The parent objecting to the proposed relocation may rebut the presumption by a showing that, under an 11-factor statutory test, the detrimental effects of relocating outweigh the benefits. *Id.*; RCW 26.09.520. After weighing these factors, the court may grant or deny relocation of the child, based on an overall consideration of the best

interests of the child. 164 Wn. App. at 56-57 (citing RCW 26.09.420; *In re Parentage of R.F.R.*, 122 Wn. App. 324, 328, 93 P.3d 951 (2004); *In re Marriage of Grigsby*, 112 Wn. App. 1, 7-8, 57 P.3d 1166 (2002)).

The Child Relocation Act "shifts the analysis away from only the best interests of the child to an analysis that focuses on both the child and the relocating person." In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 887, 93 P.3d 124 (2004); RCW 26.09.520. Our courts have, for example, regularly allowed relocations so that the relocating spouse can pursue opportunities to provide economic security. In re Marriage of Pape, 139 Wn.2d 694 989 P.2d 1102 (1999) (permitting relocation to allow mother to secure teaching position); Clarke v. Clarke, 49 Wn.2d 509, 304 P.2d 673 (1956) (permitting relocation to California for step-father's new job); **Nedrow** v. Nedrow, 48 Wn.2d 243, 292 P.2d 872 (1956) (permitting relocation to Illinois, where stepfather was offered a job there); and Kirby v. Kirby, 126 Wash. 530, 219 P. 27 (1923) (permitting relocation to New York for step father's "better business connections"). Our courts have long recognized that "[c]hildren of divorce do better when the well-being of the primary residential parent is high." *Pape*, 139 Wn.2d at 709.

The trial court carefully went through each of these 11 statutory factors, entering findings and a ruling consistent with Dr. Poppleton. CP 104-06; Ex 2 at 27-30. The court found that all but one applicable factor favored relocation. CP 104-06. The court found, for example: (1) that LaShandre has historically been more involved with the children as the stay-at-home parent; (2) that LaShandre is better equipped to help the children through the dissolution and relocation; (3) that the parties had previously agreed that moving to Florida would benefit the children; and (4) that LaShandre was acting in good faith, seeking to move to Florida to be near her family. Id. The court found that while there are some negative aspects to relocating the children, such as adjusting to a new school, they were not significant enough to rebut the presumption that LaShandre, the primary residential parent, may relocate with the children. CP 105.

Michael does not challenge or even assign error to these findings. Thus, they are verities on appeal. *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Jackson*, 180 Wn.2d 201, 219, 372 P.3d 795 (2014).

In short, the trial court's decision was well within its broad discretion. This Court should affirm.

B. *Pro se* litigants are held to the same standard as attorneys. (BA 9-10).

Michael begins by asking this Court for leniency because he is *pro se*, relying on federal cases. BA 10. Our courts have repeatedly held that *pro se* litigants are "held to the same standard as an attorney." *Kelsey v. Kelsey*, 179 Wn. App. 360, 368, 317 P.3d 1096, *rev. denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1017 (2014); *Edwards v. Le Duc*, 157 Wn. App. 455, 460, 238 P.3d 1187 (2010). Michael is not entitled to leniency.

C. Civil statutes are presumed constitutional. (BA 10-14).

Michael request a "Declaratory Judgment clarifying Washington Courts' holding on presumed constitutionality of civil statutes." BA 13. There is no need for clarification, where countless State Supreme Court cases addressing constitutional challenges to civil statutes have held that the statutes are presumed constitutional. *E.g., In re Estate of Hambleton*, _____ Wn.2d ____, ¶24, 335 P.3d 398, 406 (2014) ("We presume that statutes are constitutional and place 'the burden to show unconstitutionality … on the challenger'") (citing *Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals*, 158 Wn.2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 571 (2006)); *Wash. Educ. Ass'n v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 181 Wn.2d 212, 221, 332 P.3d 428 (2014) (same); *City of Bothell v. Barnhart*, 172 Wn.2d 223, 229, 257 P.3d 648 (2011) (same). These decisions

are binding. This Court cannot "declare" controlling precedent incorrect.

But in any event, Michael's argument is meritless. Applying a

presumption that duly enacted statues are constitutional furthers the

doctrine of separation of powers:

Because the statute is presumed to be constitutional, the burden is on the challenging party to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that it is unconstitutional. . . . This means that one challenging a statute must, by argument and research, convince the court that there is no reasonable doubt that the statute violates the constitution. . . . The assumption is that the Legislature considered the constitutionality of its enactment and thus should be afforded some deference. . . . Though ultimately, the judiciary decides whether a given statute is within the Legislature's power to enact or whether it violates a constitutional mandate. . . . This is analogous to what the United States Supreme Court has stated, "[d]ue respect for the decisions of a coordinate branch of Government demands that we invalidate a congressional enactment only upon a plain showing that Congress has exceeded its constitutional bounds."

Peninsula Neighborhood Ass'n v. Dep't of Transp., 142 Wn.2d

328, 12 P.3d 134 (2000) (quoting United States v. Morrison, 529

U.S. 598, 607, 120 S. Ct. 1740, 1748, 146 L. Ed. 2d 658 (2000),

internal citations omitted).

D. Michael does not have an equal protection claim, and this Court should decline to address this argument for the first time on appeal.

No one disagrees that parents have a protected interest in the

care and custody of their children. BA 15-18. But there is no

fundamental liberty interest to "associate" with one's children as much as one desires to. *Id.* Rather, "a parenting plan that 'complies with the statutory requirements to promote the best interests of the children' does not violate a parent's constitutional rights." *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 42, 283 P.3d 546 (2012) (quoting *In re Marriage of Katare*, 125 Wn. App. 813, 823, 105 P.3d 44 (2004)). Michaels' argument to the contrary is meritless. This Court should decline to participate in the exercise of trying to turn a parenting plan into a First Amendment issue.

Michael appears to assert that the First Amendment protections on the freedom to associate guarantee him unfettered "association" with his children. BA 18-21. The argument goes: LaShandre cannot relocate because it severely infringes on Michael's fundamental "right to parent-child association." BA 18. There is no fundamental right to unfettered parent-child association, and Michael's claims to the contrary are entirely unsupported. BA 18-21.

Here, as in any dissolution proceeding, the trial court has to balance the rights of <u>both</u> parents. *Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 42. Indeed, in *Katare*, our Court rejected the claim, similar to Michael's, that limiting international travel impermissibly interfered

with the father's "fundamental constitutional right to parent his children without state interference." 175 Wn.2d at 41-42. The Katare Court noted, "We have long recognized a parent's right to raise his or her children may be limited in dissolution proceedings because the competing fundamental rights of both parents and the best interests of the child must also be considered." Id. at 42 (citing In re Marriage of King, 162 Wn.2d 378, 388, 174 P.3d 659 (2007) ("[F]undamental constitutional rights are not implicated in a dissolution proceeding"); Momb v. Ragone, 132 Wn. App. 70, 77, 130 P.3d 406 (2006) ("No case has applied a strict scrutiny standard when weighing the interests of two parents")). Again "a parenting plan that 'complies with the statutory requirements to promote the best interests of the children' does not violate a parent's constitutional rights." Katare 175 Wn.2d at 42 (quoting Katare, 125 Wn. App. at 823).

But even assuming arguendo that there is a fundamental right to "parent-child association" – and necessary then that *Katare* and its predecessors and progeny are wrong – LaShandre and Michael are not similarly situated. BA 19. Thus, Michael's equal protection claim fails. *See e.g.*, *Harris v. Charles*, 171 Wn.2d 455, 462, 256 P.3d 382 (2011); WASH. CONST. at 1, § 12.

LaShandre is, and has for the last 16-years been, the primary residential parent. Ex 2 at 19, 124-25, 27. Michael is a "weekend dad." *Id.* at 27. While his contributions to the children's upbringing was more than financial, Michael has not been nearly as involved in childrearing as LaShandre. *Id.* In other words, this Court is not faced with two parents equally – or even roughly equally – sharing parenting. The parties simply are not similarly situated.

Michael completely misses the mark in suggesting that the County is "limited to validating parental fitness to justify its continued intrusion." BA 21. LaShandre filed for divorce invoking the court's jurisdiction over the marriage and the children of the marriage. The court is statutorily required to enter a parenting plan. RCW 26.09.050(1). This is not the type of "intrusion" that occurs when the State seeks to terminate parental rights, claiming that a parent is unfit. And the upshot of Michael's argument is that courts cannot enter parenting plans unless a parent is unfit. BA 21. That is plainly incorrect and unwise.

Finally, Michael is not entitled to strict scrutiny, as he claims. BA 21-25. Again, "case has applied a strict scrutiny standard when weighing the interests of two parents." *Momb*, 132 Wn. App. at 77. But in any event, allowing trial courts to dissolve marriages

and enter parenting plans is plainly a compelling state interest. BA 21-25.

E. LaShandre is a fit parent, and this Court should decline to reach this issue for the first time on appeal. (BA 26-32).

Michael begins this argument with the assertion that LaShandre is unfit because she "requires compensation." BA 27-28. The upshot of this argument is that any parent leaving a divorce who needs maintenance or child support is not fit to parent their children. This is incorrect as it is offensive.

Michael then argues that LaShandre's "possible psychosis" renders her unfit. BA 28-30. To support this assertion, Michael accuses the "County" of having kept LaShandre's "possible psychosis hidden throughout the dissolution." BA 29. This argument is unsupported.

Michael faults the trial court for initially refusing to order LaShandre to undergo a psychological evaluation. BA 29. Michael agreed to his own psychological exam. CP 32-33. He ignores that the court initially declined to do order an evaluation of LaShandre because it found no factual basis supporting Michael's claims that LaShandre was "mentally ill." Ex 2 at 24; see RP 742; CP 104. Michael also ignores that once LaShandre filed for relocation, Dr.

Poppleton performed on LaShandre the same psychological evaluation he performed on Michael. Ex 2 at 21-23.

Michael claims that the court ignored RCW 26.09.187. BA 29-30. LaShandre moved for relocation, governed by RCW 26.09.520, not RCW 26.09.187. In any event, many of the considerations are the same. *Compare* RCW 26.09.187 *with* .520.

Michael's argument is nothing more than a *quid-pro-quo* claim that since Michael was "heavily scrutinized," LaShandre should have been too. BA 28-30. In this regard as well, the parties are not similarly situated. As discussed at length in the facts, Michael has a long history of depression and suicidal ideation. Statement of Fact § D. As the marriage worsened, his depression became more pronounced, and he made statements about blaming LaShandre should he take his life. RP 237-38.

Michael repeatedly exercised phenomenally poor judgment documented by third-parties, including sending disgusting letters to LaShandre's parents, providing surreptitious recordings of LaShandre to the parenting evaluator, and arriving at his child's school, in violation of a restraining order, with a book about making homemade weapons. Ex 2 at 24; Ex 42; RP 556.

Michael's claim that LaShandre is "mentally ill" is essentially that she overacts to his actions. Ex 2 at 24. But again, Dr. Poppleton opined that this is a cycle – Michael exercises poor judgment, LaShandre overreacts, and Michael accuses her of mental illness. *Id.* Given the long history of marital discord, her reactions were understandable. *Id.*

F. Michaels' argument that marriage does not affect "individual rights" is baseless. (BA 32-44).

Michael argues that the parties' marriage did not affect his "individual rights" to "autonomy and property." BA 32-44. The premise underpinning this argument is fatally flawed and undermines the entire argument.

Marriage is a civil contract entered into voluntarily by adults. RCW 26.04.010. The marital contract plainly affects property in numerous ways, just a few examples of which are: (1) that property acquired during the marriage is presumed to belong to the community; (2) that spouses may only bequeath their 50% share of community assets; and (3) that all property, community and separate, comes before the court for distribution during a divorce. *See* generally, RCW 26.09.080, 26.16.030. Marriage plainly affects the right to "autonomy" in similar ways – as just one example, a

married person does not have the "autonomy" to dispose of all community assets. RCW 26.16.030.

In short, when Michael elected to get married, his rights to "autonomy and property" changed. This Court should disregard this meritless argument.

Michael claims that the trial court "ignored" his rights to autonomy and property, stemming from its adherence to "ancient practices, so socially engrained as to be imperceptible." BA 32. Although not clear, Michael appears to refer to the "practice" that the husband was "granted . . . absolute dominion over [the wife] and in return he was indebted to re-establish her post-separation identity." BA 34. There is no indication the trial court reverted to such a "practice," assuming it ever existed.

In dissolution proceedings, the trial court has broad discretion to make a just and equitable property distribution based on the factors enumerated in RCW 26.09.080. *In re Marriage of Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 242-43, 170 P.3d 572 (2007), *rev. denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008); *In re Marriage of Luckey*, 73 Wn. App. 201, 209-10, 868 P.2d 189 (1994). This Court will reverse only upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Buchanan*, 150 Wn. App. 730, 735, 207 P.3d 478 (2009).

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